In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

No. 85884

Electronically Filed Apr 26 2023 02:28 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

DAINE CRAWLEY,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Appeal from Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DIANE C. LOWE, ESQ. Lowe Law, L.L.C.

7350 West Centennial Pkwy #3085 Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 (725) 212-2451

Attorney for Appellant

STEVE B. WOLFSON, ESQ. CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

AARON D. FORD Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701 (775) 684-1265

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant Crawley appeals from the District Court's Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law & Order in case A-20-816041 issued December 21, 2022 denying relief. 3AA679-699.

The judgment of conviction issued April 7, 2020 after he entered a plea agreement to a category C felony July 15, 2019. 1AA130-131.

Nevada law permits an appeal from a district court order refusing a new trial and or order on a writ action. See NRS §34.575; NRS §177.015(1)(c).

NRS 34.575 Appeal from order of district court granting or denying writ.

1. An applicant who, after conviction or while no criminal action is pending against the applicant, has petitioned the district court for a writ of habeas corpus and whose application for the writ is denied, may appeal to the appellate court of competent jurisdiction pursuant to the rules fixed by the Supreme Court pursuant to Section 4 of Article 6 of the Nevada Constitution from the order and judgment of the district court, but the appeal must be made within 30 days after service by the court of written notice of entry of the order or judgment.

Sec. 4. Jurisdiction of Supreme Court and court of appeals; appointment of judge to sit for disabled or disqualified justice or judge.

1. The Supreme Court and the court of appeals have appellate jurisdiction in all civil cases arising in district courts, and also on questions of law alone in all criminal cases in which the offense charged is within the original jurisdiction of the district courts.Nevada Const. art. VI §4. ...

A timely proper notice of appeal was submitted on December 21, 2022. 3AA723-725. The due date for the Opening Brief and Appendices is April 26, 2023.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Daine Crawley's appeal is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because pursuant to Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure [NRAP] Rule 17(b)(3) and (7) it is an appeal from a postconviction civil writ of habeas corpus order [3AA664-684] denying relief from the judgment of conviction of a Category C felony. 1AA130-131. [Amended judgment of conviction 3AA700-703].

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 13, 2019 the Las Vegas Justice Court in case 19F11843X held an Initial Appearance Hearing for Daine Crawley. 1AA1. He allegedly threatened people with a knife – who were walking to and in their cars by the Excalibur and Luxor casino parking lot on June 12 2019. 1AA73.

Probable cause was found, and counsel was provisionally appointed to him. Register of Actions 19F11843X.

1AA1. Standard bail was set at \$5,000 / \$5,000. The Criminal Complaint was filed in open court on June 17,

2019 charging him with Count 1: Assault with a Deadly Weapon a category B felony in violation of NRS 200.471; and Count 2: Carrying a Concealed Firearm or other Deadly Weapon a category C felony in violation of N.R.S. 202.350(1)(d)(3). 1AA10-11. At this hearing Mr. Crawley was advised of the charges in the criminal complaint and he waived reading. 1AA12. He was allowed out on house arrest with Electronic Monitoring. 1AA17. He failed to appear for his June 25 2019 hearing and a bench warrant order issued. 1AA18-19. He appeared in custody at his July 11 2019 hearing and unconditionally waived his right to a preliminary hearing. 1AA3-8.

He was bound over to District Court as charged in case C-19-341735-1. At his Initial Arraignment on July 15, 2019, with counsel Erika D. Ballou by his side, he entered a plea of guilty to Count 2 Carrying other Deadly Weapon Category C felony per NRS 202.350(1)(d)(3). Guilty Plea Agreement – 1AA22-29. Transcript of Hearing - 1AA30-36.

On August 27, 2019 a sealed PSI was eFiled. Mr. Crawley moved to dismiss his trial counsel, Ms. Ballou, by motion on October 28, 2019. 1AA37-41. There was an All Pending Motions hearing on November 13, 2019. 1AA42-51. Attorney Ballou moved for the Guilty Plea Agreement to be withdrawn and advised that there was incorrect information in the PSI and that a new evaluation needed to be done.

While he was out on his own recognizance for this case – he was apprehended at Neiman Marcus on August 9, 2019 trying to steal designer jeans. C-19-342881 Grand Larceny. Shortly before this case settled - he settled via plea the Neiman Marcus case on September 6, 2019

- terms stipulated to be concurrent with this yet unsentenced case C341735. 1AA84.

On November 19 2019 the State submitted their Notice of Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual Criminal. 1AA52-53.

On November 20 Carl Arnold confirmed as counsel to handle the plea withdrawal efforts. 1AA54-57. Given the habitual additur he was now facing a significant more amount of prison time. His plea agreement dismissed Count 1 Assault with a Deadly Weapon a category B Felony and he plead guilty to carrying a concealed firearm or other deadly weapon – a Category C felony.

A category C felony is a felony for which a court shall sentence a convicted person to imprisonment in the state prison for a minimum term of not less than 1 year and a maximum term of not more than 5 years. In addition to any other penalty, the court may impose a fine of not more than \$10,000, unless a greater fine is authorized or required by statute.

The Plea agreement states in part ...the State will have the unqualified right to argue for any legal sentence and term of confinement allowable for the crime(s) to which I am pleading guilty, including the use of any prior convictions I may have to increase my sentence as an habitual criminal to five (5) to twenty (20) twenty years, life without the

possibility of parole, life with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years, or a definite twenty-five (25) year term with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years.

(With the small habitual criminal statute used to enhance his sentence he was ultimately sentenced to 84 months to 240 months or 7-20 years instead of the originally anticipated 1-5 years.)

There were two brief hearings on January 15 and 29, 2020 to check status. 1AA58-59; 1AA60-62. On January 31, 2020 Attorney Arnold submitted his Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea. 1AA63-69. And the State filed their Opposition on February 14, 2020. 1AA69-74. Argument on the motion took place February 19, 2020. 1AA75-82. The Court made an immediate denial of the motion. It was decided Mr. Arnold would handle the Sentencing hearing at Mr. Crawley's request. The Court requested that any errors in the PSI to be addressed prior to sentencing. The State submitted their Sentencing Memorandum on March 3 2020. 1AA83-85.

On March 4, 2020 there was a hearing with argument on Small Habitual Criminal Treatment. 1AA86-103. A Supplemental PSI was eFiled confidential and sealed on March 24, 2020. [Transmitted pursuant to 4.12.23 Motion to the Supreme Court - approved 4.14.23.]

On April 1, 2020 the Sentencing Hearing took place before the Honorable Jacqueline M. Bluth.1AA104-125. Attorney Roger Bailey appeared with Mr. Crawley. Crawley was sentenced pursuant to the small habitual statute NRS 207.010(a) for this case which resulted in a sentence of 7-20 years for carrying the small pocketknife. (84 months to 240 months). 1AA124-125.

The Judgment of Conviction was filed April 7, 2020. 1AA130-131. Mr. Crawley filed a pro per notice of appeal. 1AA126-129.

On May 11, 2020 Attorney Arnold's appointment as Appellate Counsel for direct appeal was confirmed. He submitted his short Opening Brief on October 12, 2020.

1AA184-192. The 23 page appendix included the Information [1AA20-21], Guilty Plea Agreement [1AA22-29], Transcript of the Waiver of Preliminary Hearing [1AA3-8], Notice of Appeal [1AA126-129], and Judgment of Conviction. 1AA130-131]. The Attorney General responded with a brief and appendix on November 12, 2020. 1AA193-205, 206-207.

The Direct Appeal Order affirming judgment along with the Nevada Supreme Court Clerk's Certificate of Judgment Affirmed dated March 19, 2021 for Supreme Court Case #81011 and Remittitur issued in March and April 2021. 1AA217,-218; 219; 229. The Opinion was short and did not really reach the merits: "Crawley does not provide this court with transcripts of his plea canvass. Or the hearing on his motion to withdraw plea. These documents are necessary for this court's review of his claim. Therefore, we cannot conclude the district court abused its discretion by denying Crawley's presentence motion to withdraw his guilty plea..." 2AA267. So there is no real law of the case to speak of.

On June 4, 2020 Mr. Crawley filed a timely postconviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. A-20-816041-W. 1AA134-149. The Court ordered a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus June 9, 2020. 1AA150. Mr. Crawley submitted a second petition for writ of habeas corpus June 12, 2020. 1AA151-167. The State responded July 21, 2020. 1AA168-175. Among other things he argues that the second petition submitted June 12 2020 should not be considered. 1AA172-173. But if you go through a page by page comparison – you will see they are essentially the The Grounds listed are the same: Ground 1 same. Violation of 14th Amendment, Equal Protection Clause Due Process of Law Violation First Petition: 1AA141; Second Petition 1AA156. Ground 2 Violation of Amendment 6, Amendment 7, Amendment 5: First Petition 1AA142. Second Petition 1AA158. Ground 3: Violation of Administrative order 20-06 filed March 18 2020: First Petition: 1AA143. Second Petition: 1AA163. Ground 4: 8th Amendment Cruel and unusual punishment, 7th Amendment right to jury trial. First Petition: 1AA144.

Second Petition: No Ground 4. We will address this further on in the argument section.

With respect to the appointment of a postconviction writ of habeas corpus attorney there is confusion in that the minutes on August 26, 2020 are contradictory. 1AA178-180; 3AA699. "Mr. Bailey will accept the appointment today," but they conclude with Court Ordered, Carl Arnold Appointed as counsel." It is believed they were both with the CEGA Law Group at the time.

On March 18, 2021 Mr. Crawley filed a pro per supplement because he could not reach attorney Bailey or attorney Arnold or get a straight answer from the court as to why his action was at a standstill. 1AA189-214. 3AA398. The State Responded May 6, 2021. 1AA221-227.

A Minute Order was filed May 25, 2021 denying Mr. Crawley's petition as procedurally barred. 3AA701-702. The Order found: First there were claims that were direct appeal issues which is not allowed. And next, Mr. Crawley

had stepped in and filed the supplement himself even though attorney Carl Arnold and or Roger Bailey had been appointed on April 26, 2020.

Mr. Crawley filed a pro per Notice of Appeal for case 83136 on June 24, 2021 with several attachments 67 pages on a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus form – court stamped by the Supreme Court July 1 2021. 2AA286. He also filed a motion to withdraw counsel with the Supreme Court on July 1 2021. 2AA342.

And a Case Appeal Statement was filed June 28 2021. 2AA291-292. A Motion to Withdraw Counsel was submitted July 8 2021. 2AA345-349. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order issued July 22, 2021. 2AA350-356.

The appeal courts remanded the case – No. 83136-COA - on March 1, 2022. 2AA360-363.

They found that the District Court's Opinion that 'no ineffectiveness of trial counsel issues were raised in the

petition or subsequent arguments' was belied by the record. 2AA360.

Further because the record was unclear on who the appointed counsel was and there was not supporting documentation provided, they could not align with the District Court's finding that Mr. Crawley's pro se supplement filing in light of his attorney's inattention was fugitive. 2AA361. And because the District Court had deemed the postconviction action as meriting counsel—and that at least one of the issues raised was a sentencing issue creating a conflict of interest with the appointment of either attorney because both Bailey and Arnold had represented Crawley during the criminal case proper.

On March 28, 2022 this counsel Diane Lowe was appointed to represent Mr. Crawley for his postconviction writ of habeas corpus action. A-20-816041-W Daine Crawley, Plaintiff(s) vs. Warden Williams, HDSP, Defendant. 2AA372-377. On August 26, 2022 a Supplemental Brief to the Post-Conviction Petitions for Writ of Habeas Corpus was filed with attachments. Brief:

2AA378-4-8; Declaration of Crawley: 2AA382-400; Records and Letters: 2AA409-483; 3AA485- 3AA483-646.

The State's Response to this action was October 20, 2022. 3AA647-666. In it they claimed among other things that petitioner's 2nd and third pro per submissions adding to his initial petition for writ of habeas corpus should not be considered because the court did not grant permission for additions. 3AA661 referring to June 12, 2020 [1AA151-167] and March 18, 2021. Petition: 1AA213-247, Supplement: 1AA238-241, 2AA242-263. A Reply Brief was not ordered or submitted. An argument hearing was held November 28 2022. 3AA667-677. A Minute Order denying relief was issued December 21 2022. 3AA678. And on that same day an Amended Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was issued. 3AA679-699. A timely notice of Appeal was submitted December 21, 2022. 3AA723-725. We filed the appeal to be timely though there were a couple small issues still to resolve. The court had proceeded to rule on the briefing while neglecting the remaining issues mentioned at argument and for which there was a hearing scheduled on sentence credit and adding certified records to replace the uncertified records from one of Mr. Crawley's treatment providers. 3AA673. On January 10 2023 the certified records were ordered admitted. And on February 17, 2023 an Amended Judgement of Conviction was issued adding 199 days of sentence credit. 3AA700-703. 2AA428-484.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Crawley's 2 initial criminal charges (later reduced to 1 via plea) stem from allegations that he threatened people who were walking to and in their cars by the Excalibur and Luxor casino parking lot on June 12 2019. 1AA73.

Earlier that day leading up to his arrest - Mr. Crawley had been helping someone move to make a little money. 2AA421. He lost track of time, and this caused him to miss the opportunity to check

in to get a bed at Salvation Army and he had no place he could think of to go. 2AA421. He was riding the bus for a while and eventually he had them let him off at the Luxor Hotel. He thought he could hang out there for a couple hours at the Sports Book bar in the seating area. Within the hour he had fallen asleep. Security told him he had to leave the hotel. 2AA419. They grabbed his nearby backpack and tablet and said since he he could not have it back. did not have an ID They had security on bikes following him to make sure he fully left. Las Vegas police approached him as he was leaving the casino area. He reflexively ran from them and as he did; a vehicle grazed him. 2AA422. He was trying to protect himself pushing himself away from the car. he is wondering if that is what they were talking about for count 1. He had tried to end his life that day and had taken a large amount of Xanax, alprazolam and alcohol hoping he would not wake up. 2AA422. 1AA123. So, he can't fully rule out that he was not cognizant of what was going on and what had transpired. 2AA422. NBH records state on April 27, 2019 Crisis assessment that he presented with extreme paranoia and delusional thinking. 2AA432.

This action stems from a June 12, 2019 incident near the Luxor.

For at least 48 of the times he had been to NBH that year, including before and after these charges, he was diagnosed with among other things an Active Adjustment Disorder unspecified F43.20(ICD-10). April 28, 2019 2AA435, April 29, 2019 2AA437... June 3 2019. 3AA509. June 20, 2020. 3AA511....

He can't figure out why the people in the parking lot would have said the things they did to the police unless there was another person running around in the parking lot and they just confused him for the other guy given he was running.

2AA423. Or if it was because he was pushing against the vehicle to get away from it and they mistook it for threats. Or if there was some sort of mental break. What he does definitely remember is he never had any intent to hurt anyone. He does recall earlier having about 4-5 fifths of new liquor bottles in his backpack that he was trying to sell And maybe he was approaching them trying to sell the bottles. He never got them back from police after he got locked up. Id.

When he was apprehended the police found a small knife on his belt. He did not even think of it as a knife it's so small; so, when they asked him whether he had a knife on him he said no. Literally it was a razor blade about the size of a pen cap if extended. 2AA423. He was arrested. He was later released out with electronic monitoring. It registers to your cell phone. And that was a problem because he had no home. 2AA423.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the district court's application of the law de novo. State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013). Lader v. Warden, 121 Nev. 682, 686, 120 P.3d 1164, 1166 (2005)."...the appellate court reviews claim a of ineffective assistance of counsel de novo, as a mixed question of law and fact. The appellate court gives deference to the district court's factual findings, however, if not clearly erroneous and supported by substantial evidence.' Rubio v. State, 124 Nev. 1032, 1034, 194 P.3d 1224, 1226 (2008).Denial of an evidentiary hearing is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. The district court need not hold an evidentiary hearing where a claim or allegation is repelled or belied by the record, or "necessarily false." Mann v. State, 118 Nev.351 at 354-55, 46 P.3d 1228 at 1230 (2002). But a claim "is not 'belied by the record' just because a factual dispute is created by the pleadings or affidavits filed during the postconviction proceedings. A claim is 'belied' when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record as it existed at the time the claim was made." Id. at 354, 46 P.3d at 1230. Berry v. State, 131 Nev. 957, 969, 363 P.3d 1148, 1156 (2015).

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Crawley committed to an unknowing plea due to the ineffectiveness of trial counsel. He then tried to have that plea withdrawn pretrial and that counsel was ineffective as well. Since it was pretrial – the general preclusions of entitlement to effective writ of habeas corpus counsel are not applicable. Caselaw on this issue specifically state 'post-conviction counsel'. "...there is no constitutional or statutory right to the assistance of counsel in noncapital post-conviction proceedings, and '[w]here there is no right to counsel there can

be no deprivation of effective assistance of counsel." Id. at 569, 331 P.3d at 870 (quoting McKague v. Warden, 112 Nev. 159 at 163–65, 912 P.2d 255 at 258).

Crawley Mr. also received prejudicially ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing. prisoner's inability to present an ineffectiveassistance claim is of particular concern because the right to effective trial counsel is a bedrock principle in this Nation's justice system. Martinez v. Ryan, 566 U.S. 1, 2, 132 S. Ct. 1309, 1311-12 (2012).

VII. LEGAL ARGUMENT

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "[in]n all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right ... to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." This court has long recognized that 'the right to counsel is the right to effective assistance of counsel." Strickland v Washington, 466, U.S. 668, 104

S.Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); see also State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993).

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, a petitioner must show: (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. The first prong of this test asks whether counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness as evaluated from counsel's perspective at the time. The second prong asks whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. .. When the State enters into a plea agreement, it is held to the most meticulous standards of both promise and performance with respect to both the terms and the spirit of the plea bargain. Id.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "[in]n all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right ... to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense." Strickland v Washington, 466, U.S. 668,

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