### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\_\_\_\_

Electronically Filed May 25 2023 11:13 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

DAINE CRAWLEY,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 85884

# **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

Appeal From a Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DIANE C. LOWE, ESQ. Nevada Bar #014573 Lowe Law, LLC 7350 W. Centennial Pkwy. #3085 Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 (725) 212-2451

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The District Court did not err in denying Appellant's petition for writ of habeas corpus, post-conviction. Appellant's petition was procedurally barred without evidence of good cause because it raised issues that would have appropriately been decided in a direct appeal.

Appointed counsel was also not ineffective in attempting to have Appellant's plea withdrawn. Pursuant to <u>State v. Freese</u>, 116 Nev. 1097, 1105, 13 P.3d 442, 448 (2000), Appellant knowingly and voluntarily entered into the plea agreement. Furthermore, Appellant received effective assistance of counsel at sentencing. Finally, Appellant should not have been granted an evidentiary hearing.

///

///

///

# <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's application of the law de novo, and gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters. State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013). This Court reviews a district court's denial of a habeas petition for abuse of discretion. Rubio v. State, 124 Nev. 1032, 1047, 194 P.3d 1224, 1234 (2008). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." Jackson v. State, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001). This Court must give deference to the factual findings made by the district court if they are supported by the record. Little v. Warden, 117 Nev. 845, 854, 34 Pd. 3d 540, 546 (2001).

#### II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE ISSUES RAISED IN APPELLANT'S PETITIONS FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS WERE PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Initially, Appellant has failed to address the procedurally barred nature of his habeas petitions in his Appellant's Opening Brief (AOB). The District Court here ruled that the issues that Appellant raised were barred pursuant to NRS 34.810 because he wished to raise issues that would have been appropriately raised in a direct appeal. 3 AA 683. His failure to do so amounts to an admission that the decision below was correct. See, Polk v. State, 126 Nev. 180, 184-86, 233 P.3d 357, 360-61 (2010) (finding confessed error by failing to address a material issue);

Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) ("It is Appellant's responsibility to present relevant authority and cogent argument; issues not so presented need not be addressed by this court."). Further, Appellant should be barred from addressing good cause in any reply since to do so would allow him to short circuit the adversarial process by denying Respondent any opportunity to respond. This Court should not tolerate such litigation practices. See, Righetti v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 133 Nev. 42, 47, 388 P.3d 643, 648 (2017) (declining to adopt a rule in a capital case that "rewards and thus incentivizes less than forthright advocacy").

# A. Application of procedural bars is mandatory.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that courts have a *duty* to consider whether a defendant's post-conviction petition claims are procedurally barred. <u>Id</u>. The <u>Riker Court found that "[a]pplication of the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory," noting:</u>

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final.

<u>Id.</u> Additionally, the Court noted that procedural bars "cannot be ignored [by the district court] when properly raised by the State." <u>Id.</u> at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075. Ignoring these procedural bars is an arbitrary and unreasonable exercise of

discretion. <u>Id.</u> at 234, 112 P.3d at 1076. The Nevada Supreme Court has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding whether to apply the statutory procedural bars; the rules *must* be applied.

This position was reaffirmed in <u>State v. Greene</u>, 129 Nev. 559, 307 P.3d 322 (2013). There, the Court ruled that the defendant's petition was "untimely, successive, and an abuse of the writ" and that the defendant failed to show good cause and actual prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 324, 307 P.3d at 326. Accordingly, the Court reversed the district court and ordered the defendant's petition dismissed pursuant to the procedural bars. <u>Id.</u> at 324, 307 P.3d at 322–23. The procedural bars are so fundamental to the post-conviction process that they must be applied by this Court even if not raised by the State. <u>See Riker</u>, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074. Parties cannot stipulate to waive the procedural default rules. <u>State v. Haberstroh</u>, 119 Nev. 173, 180-81, 69 P.3d 676, 681-82 (2003).

# B. The petitions were beyond the scope of habeas.

NRS 34.810(1) reads:

The court shall dismiss a petition if the court determines that:

- (a) The petitioner's conviction was upon a plea of guilty or guilty but mentally ill and the petition is not based upon an allegation that the plea was involuntarily or unknowingly or that the plea was entered without effective assistance of counsel.
- (b) The petitioner's conviction was the result of a trial and the grounds for the petition could have been:

. . .

(2) Raised in a direct appeal or a prior petition for a writ of habeas corpus or postconviction relief.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that "challenges to the validity of a guilty plea and claims of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel must first be pursued in post-conviction proceedings.... [A]ll other claims that are appropriate for a direct appeal must be pursued on direct appeal, or they will be *considered waived in subsequent proceedings*." Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994) (emphasis added) (disapproved on other grounds by Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999)). "A court must dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner." Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-47, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001).

Further, substantive claims are beyond the scope of habeas and waived. NRS 34.724(2)(a); Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646–47, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001); Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994), disapproved on other grounds, Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999).

A defendant may only escape these procedural bars if they meet the burden of establishing good cause and prejudice:

- 3. Pursuant to subsections 1 and 2, the petitioner has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate:
- (a) Good cause for the petitioner's failure to present the claim or for presenting the claim again; and
- (b) Actual prejudice to the petitioner.

NRS 34.810(3). Where a defendant does not show good cause for failure to raise claims of error upon direct appeal, the district court is not obliged to consider them in post-conviction proceedings. Jones v. State, 91 Nev. 416, 536 P.2d 1025 (1975).

The District Court held that the grounds Appellant brought in his previous petitions were proper only for a direct appeal, and thereby, waived. 3 AA 693. In his second petition, Appellant presented three (3) grounds to the Court: (1) violation of his due process rights; (2) errors in his SPSI; and (3) violation of a court administrative order<sup>1</sup>. Id. In addition, Appellant presented four (4) grounds to the Court in his Third Petition: (1) violation of his due process rights; (2) errors in his SPSI; (3) violation of a court administrative order; and (4) error in adjudication as a habitual criminal. <u>Id</u>. Appellant does not challenge the validity of a guilty plea and/or raise claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Id. Thus, the issues Appellant raised in his prior petitions were improperly brought before the Court. As such, these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellant's claims brought in his First Petition are not mentioned in AOB.

substantive claims are proper only on direct appeal and are procedurally barred, and the district court properly held that these claims should be denied.

# C. Appellant failed to demonstrate both good cause and prejudice to overcome the procedural bars.

To avoid procedural default, a defendant has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate good cause for his failure to present his claim in earlier proceedings or to otherwise comply with the statutory requirements, and that he will be unduly Prejudiced if the petition is dismissed. NRS 34.726(1)(a); see Hogan v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 959–60, 860 P.2d 710, 715–16 (1993); Phelps v. Nevada Dep't of Prisons, 104 Nev. 656, 659, 764 P.2d 1303, 1305 (1988). "A court must dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner." Evans, 117 Nev. at 646–47, 29 P.3d at 523 (emphasis added).

"To establish good cause, petitioners must show that an impediment external to the defense prevented their compliance with the applicable procedural rule." Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003) (emphasis added); see Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 251, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003); Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537. "A qualifying impediment might be shown where the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available at the time of default." Clem

v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003). The Court continued, "petitioners cannot attempt to manufacture good cause[.]" Id. at 621, 81 P.3d at 526. Examples of good cause include interference by state officials and the previous unavailability of a legal or factual basis. See State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. 192, 198 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012). Clearly, any delay in the filing of the petition must not be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a).

Additionally, "bare" and "naked" allegations are not sufficient to warrant post-conviction relief, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). A petitioner for post-conviction relief cannot rely on conclusory claims for relief but must make specific factual allegations that if true would entitle him to relief. Colwell v. State, 118 Nev. 807, 59 P.3d 463 (2002) (citing Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 621, 28 P.3d 498, 507 (2001)).

The District Court found Appellant was unable to demonstrate prejudice sufficient to ignore his procedural defaults. 3 AA 697. Further, all facts and law necessary were available for Appellant to bring these claims in a direct appeal. Therefore, the district court did not err in finding that Appellant had failed to show good cause to overcome the procedural bars.

///

///

///

#### III. APPELLANT ENTERED INTO HIS PLEA KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY.

# A. Totality of the circumstances – habitual agreement

To the District Court, Appellant argued that his counsel failed to fully advise him of his plea, and that his second counsel did not effectively argue his motion to withdraw his plea. Appellant now argues that the District Court erred in finding Appellant knowingly and voluntarily entered into the plea agreement because it did not account for the totality of the circumstances. AOB 29.

Guilty pleas are valid if both 'voluntary' and 'intelligent. Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 747, 90 S. Ct. 1463, 1468, 25 L. Ed. 2d 747 (1970). A guilty plea must be both knowing and voluntary, because it waives constitutional right to jury trial, right to confront one's accusers, and privilege against self-incrimination. Parke v. Raley, 506 U.S. 20, 113 S. Ct. 517, 121 L. Ed. 2d 391 (1992). The guidelines for voluntariness of guilty pleas require only that the record affirmatively show that the defendant entered his plea understandingly and voluntarily. Crawford v. State, 117 Nev. 718, 722, 30 P.3d 1123, 1126 (2001) (overruled on other grounds). A guilty plea is knowing and voluntary if the defendant "has a full understanding of both the nature of the charges and the direct consequences arising from a plea of guilty." Rubio v. State, 124 Nev. 1032, 1038, 194 P.3d 1224, 1228 (2008). To determine the validity of the guilty plea, we require the district court to look beyond the plea canvass to the entire record and the totality of the circumstances. Id. The appellate

court will not invalidate a plea as long as the totality of the circumstances, as shown by the record, demonstrates that the plea was knowingly and voluntarily made and that the defendant understood the nature of the offense and the consequences of the plea. Freese, 116 Nev. at 1105, 13 P.3d at 448; Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 191, 87 P.3d 533, 537-38 (2004) ("A thorough plea canvass coupled with a detailed, consistent, written plea agreement supports a finding that the defendant entered the plea voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently." Freese, 116 Nev. at 1105, 13 P.3d at 448.

The court may refuse to accept a plea of guilty, and shall not accept such plea or a plea of nolo contendere without first addressing the defendant personally and determining that the plea is made voluntarily with understanding of the nature of the charge and the consequences of the plea. <u>Brady</u>, 397 U.S. at 744, 90 S. Ct. at 1467, 25 L. Ed. 2d 747.

Appellant's plea agreement, combined with the plea canvass conducted by the District Court, establishes by totality of the circumstances that Appellant's guilty plea was the result of a voluntary and informed choice. Prior to accepting the guilty plea, the District Court, in addition to reviewing the guilty plea agreement, conducted the following canvas of Appellant:

THE COURT: I have a guilty plea agreement which indicates that Mr. Crawley will plead guilty to carrying concealed firearm or other deadly weapon, a C felony.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Thank you. The State retains the right to argue at sentencing and the State will not oppose an O.R. release after entry of plea. Counsels, is that accurate?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Yes, Your Honor.

[THE STATE]: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And, Mr. Crawley, is that your understanding of the negotiations?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: What is your true full name please?

THE DEENDANT: Daine Anton Crawley.

THE COURT: And how old are you?

THE DEFENDANT: Thirty-three.

THE COURT: How far have you've gone in school?

THE DEFENDANT: Graduate.

THE COURT: From high school?

THE DEFENDANT: High school, I'm sorry, yes.

THE COURT: That's okay. Do you read, write and understand the English language?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Are you taking any medications or suffering any medical conditions that would interfere with your ability to understand the proceedings or the terms of your agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you understand you're being charged with carrying concealed firearm or other deadly weapon, a C felony?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: How do you plea to that charge, guilty or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty, ma'am.

THE COURT: Is anybody forcing you to plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Are you pleading guilty of your own free will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you understand as a consequence of your plea, the Court may sentence you to minimum of one year and maximum of five years in the Nevada Department of Corrections and may fine you up to ten thousand dollars?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: And do you understand that you'll be required to pay administrative assessment fees?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: I have the original Guilty Plea Agreement, did you read through it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Did you understand it?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: And was your attorney available to answer any questions you had regarding the agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Are you satisfied with the services of your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Did you sign the agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Is this your signature on page 5?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Did you sign it freely and voluntarily?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you understand that by entering your guilty plea, you're giving up the constitutional rights listed in the Agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Do you understand that if you're not a U.S. citizen you may be deported based on your guilty plea?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

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